

Study on the Economic Impact of Maritime Spatial Planning

Final Report Abridged Version

Written by Cogea in association with CETMAR, Poseidon, Seascape Belgium, and Universidade de Vigo













EUROPEAN COMMISSION

Executive Agency for Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises (EASME) Unit MARE A.3 - EMFF

E-mail: EASME-EMFF@ec.europa.eu

European Commission B-1049 Brussels

Study on the Economic Impact of Maritime Spatial Planning

Final Report Abridged version

Europe Direct is a service to help you find answers to your questions about the European Union.

Freephone number (*):

00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11

(*) The information given is free, as are most calls (though some operators, phone boxes or hotels may charge you).

LEGAL NOTICE

This document has been prepared for the European Commission however it reflects the views only of the authors, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

More information on the European Union is available on the Internet (http://www.europa.eu).

Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2020

ISBN 978-92-9202-869-5 doi: 10.2826/892087

© European Union, 2020 Reproduction is authorised provided the source is acknowledged.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	INTRODUCTION	
2	THE CHALLENGES TO MEASURING ECONOMIC BENEFITS FROM MSP	
3	THE CASE STUDIES AT A GLANCE	
	3.1	Belgium 6
	3.2	Germany (Baltic Sea)7
	3.3	Scotland
	3.4	Norway (North Sea and Skagerrak region)9
	3.5	Rhode Island (USA)10
4	DOES	MSP GENERATE ECONOMIC BENEFITS? LESSONS FROM THE CASE STUDIES10
5	WHAT	TYPE OF BENEFITS DOES MSP BRING?13
6	WHIC	H BLUE ECONOMY SECTORS DOES MSP BENEFIT THE MOST?16
7	HOW DO STAKEHOLDERS VIEW MSP?19	
8	EXAMPLES OF SUCCESSFUL STAKEHOLDER BUY-IN AND REASONS FOR SUCCESS20	
9	WHAT MORE DO WE NEED TO LEARN?	
REFERENCES		

Acknowledgements

The study team acknowledges with grateful thanks the input, feedback and expertise provided by the wide range of representatives from the maritime sector who kindly cooperated in the compilation of this study. A special mention goes to the members of the peer-review group, made up of economists, MSP experts and other stakeholders, who voluntarily agreed to read a lengthy report and to provide their feedback on how to improve it. Prof Karyn Morrissey (University of Exeter, UK) meticulously coordinated the different phases of the peer-review process, and superbly chaired the Brussels workshop. Without them, our work would have been overwhelmingly more difficult and most certainly less accurate.

1 Introduction

With the blue economy recognized as a driver for Europe's welfare and prosperity, the European Commission has undertaken a series of steps¹ to translate that knowledge into action. It has launched initiatives in many policy areas related to Europe's oceans, seas and coasts, facilitating cross-border and cross-sector cooperation among maritime businesses, public authorities and other stakeholders to ensure the sustainable development of the maritime economy (so-called Blue Economy).

That said, maritime space is in high demand, and increasingly so. It is also accepted that many economic and business decisions are affected by geography and location. Spatial factors such as sea depth or distance from an electrical land grid or between nodes can affect the viability of offshore energy projects. In this regard, Maritime Spatial Planning (MSP) can be a determining factor in the development of maritime sectors. Conversely, MSP decisions must take into account the spatial analysis of economic operators in the maritime sector and in the blue economy in general.

Maritime Spatial Planning

- "A process by which the relevant Member State's authorities analyse and organise human activities in marine areas to achieve ecological, economic and social objectives" (Directive 2014/89/EU).
- "A practical way to create and establish a more rational organisation of the use of marine space and the interactions between its uses, to balance demands for development with the need to protect marine ecosystems, and to achieve social and economic objectives in an open and planned way" (Ehler and Douvere, 2009).

The competing needs of renewable energy installations, oil and gas, maritime shipping and fishing, ecosystem and biodiversity conservation, extraction of raw materials, tourism, aquaculture installations and underwater cultural heritage, as well as the multiple pressures put on coastal resources by an increasing population, call for an integrated planning and management approach.

From the very outset, the European Commission initiated a number of successful facilitating and enabling actions such as MSP. Successful implementation of MSP can lead to more efficient administrative procedures, reduce bureaucratic barriers to investment, cut through red tape and manage potential conflicts between different maritime activities.

The MSP Directive, adopted in 2014², provides a common framework in which EU Member States are requested to develop maritime spatial plans, but how they should do so is left to their discretion. The Directive calls for nominating a competent authority, transposing the Directive into Member States' national legislation, cooperating across borders, and then establishing their plans by March 2021.

Some Member States have already established their national plans with many making quick progress, while others have needed more guidance and information. All could

¹ Report on the Blue Growth Strategy: Towards more sustainable growth and jobs in the blue economy. EC: SWD(2017) 128 final

² Directive 2014/89/EU of the European Parliament and the Council of 23 July 2014 establishing a framework for maritime spatial planning: <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A32014L0089</u>

benefit from additional information on how MSP can help them deliver sustainable growth³ for their maritime economies.

The background aim of this study is to expand the limited information on economic benefits and impacts of MSP which was identified by the Impact Assessment study⁴ commissioned by the European Commission in 2010, when the Directive was proposed. More recently, a study on MSP and Blue Growth was concluded in 2018⁵.

- explore effects stemming from the current state of MSP implementation, with a particular focus on the economic effects
- provide Member States with additional information on how to maximise MSP benefits.

As indicated in the Tender Specifications⁶, the general objective of this study is to evaluate how MSP benefits specific blue economy sectors, with the aim to feed the results into relevant EU policies and Competent Authorities in charge of implementing MSP.

The specific aims of this study are twofold:

- 1. to explore evidence of effects stemming from the current state of implementation of MSP, with a particular focus on economic effects.
- 2. to provide Member States with additional information on how to maximise benefits from Maritime Spatial Planning.

This put the focus on both economic benefits and related social benefits. In this case, the economic benefits included: increased turnover, revenue, profit and security of supply; reduced cost and time required to start new projects, red tape, potential conflicts for competing uses of the maritime space, costs of production, time of licensing permits; and provision of long-term stability, predictability and transparency. The related social benefits included jobs and the impact of the economic benefits on local communities.

A separate study will address issues related to the environmental dimension in MSP. This study has as main objectives to look at how the "Ecosystem Based Approach" (EBA) has been incorporated into MSP processes in the EU, and to explore links between such processes and the implementation of the Marine Strategy Framework Directive⁷ (MSFD). Consequently, economic valuation and the economic benefits provided by MSP's contribution to the preservation of marine ecosystems services are not under the scope of the present study, and a separate study will address issues related to the environmental dimension of MSP.

The study was carried out in five phases: i) conducting peer and grey-literature reviews of the economic impact of MSP; ii) dissecting the reviewed papers and reports thoroughly to benchmark methods to be used for the study; iii) drafting a list of methodological gaps together with methods to bridge them; iv) conducting five case

³ https://ec.europa.eu/maritimeaffairs/sites/maritimeaffairs/files/swd-2017-128_en.pdf

⁴ Economic effects of maritime spatial planning study, published 1 April 2010:

https://ec.europa.eu/maritimeaffairs/documentation/studies/study msp en

⁵ European Commission, Maritime Spatial Planning (MSP) for blue growth, 2018:

https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/0223d4a6-41ec-11e8-b5fe-01aa75ed71a1

⁶ <u>https://etendering.ted.europa.eu/cft/cft-display.html?cftId=3426</u>

⁷ The Marine Strategy Framework Directive aims to achieve Good Environmental Status (GES) of the EU's marine waters by 2020 and to protect the resource base upon which marine-related economic and social activities depend. It is the first EU legislative instrument related to the protection of marine biodiversity, as it contains the explicit regulatory objective that "biodiversity is maintained by 2020", as the cornerstone for achieving GES.

studies to measure the economic impact of MSP in Belgium, Germany (Baltic Sea), Scotland, Norway (North Sea and Skagerrak) and Rhode Island (USA); and v) submitting a draft version of the study to a peer-review group made up of economists, MSP experts and other stakeholders. The process culminated in a workshop held in Brussels on 29 October 2019.

This report presents an abridged version of the study. For a more comprehensive overview of the various tasks, methods and results, it is recommended to consult the full version.

2 The challenges to measuring economic benefits from MSP

Relevant literature from across the world was carefully reviewed during the study, to establish where economic benefits related to MSP had been identified. The team found that there had been no systematic or methodologically rigorous efforts to quantify the costs and benefits of MSP.

There are several explanations to account for the lack of studies on the economic impact of MSP, the most obvious being that, with a few notable exceptions⁸, MSP is still a relatively recent practice (Figure 1). Thus, the literature on its economic impact is not extensive.

A confirmation of this can be found in the ever-increasing publications, number of especially in the EU. Since the 2014 entry into force of Directive 2014/89/EU, which obliged Member States to elaborate a plan, more and more researchers have been looking into the practice. A large body of research already existed on other aspects of MSP, such as methodological process studies. and This indicates that MSP's position as an emerging area of research is



not the sole reason for the limited research efforts and paucity of information currently available on the economic costs and benefits of MSP. The following identifies some of the other reasons.

Difficulty isolating economic effects. The limited quality and availability of data on certain sectors of the blue economy, such as offshore wind energy and coastal tourism, and the inability to isolate the impacts of MSP from other factors influencing the performance of the blue economy makes the economic effects of MSP inherently difficult to gauge.

Lack of quality data. Poor data availability is consistently reported as one of the toughest barriers to economic research on the blue economy. This is mostly due to the current statistical classification systems grouping economic activities according to their function, rather than where they take place. As a consequence, it is extremely difficult to have access to reliable data for many sectors of the blue economy unless strong assumptions are made.

⁸ Early examples of MSP are Australia's Great Barrier Reef Marine Park (1975), Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary (1987) and the Trilateral Wadden Sea Cooperation Area (1978).

What is an externality? In economics, an externality is a consequence of an activity that imposes costs or benefits on an entity that did not agree to incur them. If a factory emits toxic fumes as a result of its operation, its owners are imposing an external cost to the people living in the factory's immediate environs. That is called a "negative externality". On the other hand, commuters using public transport benefit those who drive to work, through less congested roads and cleaner air. That is a positive externality.

MSP can provide ecosystem services, which are considered positive environmental externalities. Although they are out of the scope of this study, it is important to be aware of them, as positive and negative externalities can be quantified in monetary terms. This means all benefits should be tallied when calculating the overall impact of MSP on the economy. Consequence of larger social context. MSP data difficulties are accentuated by the fact that many benefits or costs relate to intangible issues, such as conflict resolution, trust-building or increased stakeholder participation, with economic quantifications that are fraught with uncertainties⁹. Several papers reviewed for this study do indeed propose possible methods to quantify the economic impact of MSP, but they either do so at a very theoretical level, or they are applied to a small number of sectors rather than to the complete array of blue economy sectors.

Impact of externalities. The type of benefits yielded by MSP also plays a role. Among other things, MSP often relates to the objectives of environmental conservation. In

fact, a wide number of papers and reports focus on quantifying ecosystem benefits, and a thorough overview of the full costs and benefits of MSP should not overlook any positive or negative externalities. However, even though the methods to quantify ecosystem services are out of the scope of this study, it is still important to remember that they may often outweigh the purely economic costs and benefits of a policy.

Lack of counterfactual evaluation. There is rarely an opportunity for counterfactual evaluation. Generally speaking, the concrete implementation of MSP reflects the unique nature of the blue economy and the circumstances in the planning country or region, and cannot be easily replicated or compared to the same situation without MSP.

That being said, Figure 1 clearly shows that the number of publications dealing to some extent with the economic impact of MSP is on an upward trend. There is reason to be optimistic that this trend will continue in the future, as more and more EU Member States adopt – and eventually evaluate – their maritime spatial plans. In this phase, we probably are on a learning curve, which over time will bring us to more refined methods and tool to evaluate the economic impact of MSP.

This study thus represents one of the first attempts to systematically quantify the benefits of MSP and, thus, it was decided to do so through five case studies: Belgium, Germany (Baltic Sea), Scotland, Norway (North Sea and Skagerrak) and Rhode Island (USA). The rationale for their selection was to strike a good balance between EU and non-EU examples, between geographical regions, and between different MSP approaches.

⁹ See, for instance on shadow prices, Peng *et al*. On the measurement of socioeconomic benefits of integrated coastal management (ICM): Application to Xiamen, China, Ocean & Coastal Management 49 (2006), p. 99.

3 The case studies at a glance

3.1 Belgium



Figure 2 – Total impact (direct, indirect, induced) of MSP in Belgium

- Belgium inaugurated its first 3-year maritime spatial plan in 2014. The plan had a net positive economic impact, with the impact most pronounced in year 2 of the implementation.
- ✓ With value added of €785 million and nearly 8,000 more employees, overall, the impact of the plan seems to be bigger than experienced by the stakeholders. The Belgian MSP is emerging as a satisfactory policy framework that stimulates economic (blue) growth. Stakeholders are generally positive about the plan, but do not always perceive it as a driver for economic growth.
- ✓ The positive impact was especially visible in the renewable energy and shipping sectors. Further, the increase in renewable energy production had spill-over effects for other sectors such as mining and construction.
- ✓ Despite stakeholders expecting a strong negative impact, MSP did not have a dramatic impact on fisheries. Blue tourism seemed to suffer a negative impact from MSP, especially in year 3, although stakeholders believe the impact was not significant and not directly linked with the plan itself.
- The science sector, while not an economic sector, has had increasing success in receiving European funds for marine scientific research, such as the installation of offshore windfarms in the MSP area.
- Stronger transboundary collaboration between different MSPs is needed according to most stakeholders. Administrative costs are relatively low for the Public Service, while the administrative gains are perceived as rather high by the stakeholders.
- ✓ The next push in positive impact is to be expected in 2021, i.e. year 2 of the new plan that will be adopted in 2020, as some important new areas have been designated, including large areas for renewable energy and zones for commercial and industrial activities.

3.2 Germany (Baltic Sea)



Figure 3 - Total impact (direct, indirect and induced) of MSP in Germany (Baltic Sea)

- ✓ The German Baltic MSP has had positive direct, indirect and induced effects on the economy.
- ✓ The shipping and renewable energy sectors clearly show positive direct effects of the plan, while coastal tourism has more indirect benefits. Not surprisingly, according to the plan, shipping and renewable energy activities have priority in case of conflict among sectors.
- The connections and inter-connections of the maritime and inland sectors amplify the MSP's positive socioeconomic effects, as in the value of production, gross value added (GVA) and employment.
- Only the traditional sectors, such as fisheries and aquaculture, show slightly negative effects.
- ✓ Further, reduction of conflicts and management of cross-border issues are considered main strengths of the plan.
- ✓ As for business, both business expectations and the investment environment have improved in the renewable energy sector. Transaction costs are not influenced by the existence of the plan.

3.3 Scotland

The case study also explored trends in GVA and employment, based on the economic data available from 2008 to 2016 for each sector. Unfortunately, the data period available did not allow for exploring or attributing change directly to the National Marine Plan (NMP), because it was introduced in 2015.



Source: Marine Scotland, 2018

- ✓ The NMP has facilitated significant sector growth in the offshore wind renewable energy sector, which has undergone significant growth, especially off the east coast of Scotland. This has, however, caused upset to fisheries stakeholders, with the location of some wind farms devaluing their fisheries activity, with notable examples for the scallop sector.
- The renewable energy offshore wind sector cited generally reduced administrative and operating costs. The clear guidance and strategic planning contributed to site selection, which minimised exploration costs. Other sectors have not yet experienced reduced costs in this area.
- ✓ For the renewables sector, there were 623 MW of installed capacity in offshore wind farms in Scotland as of 2018, with a further 3.9 GW already consented. When operational, this 3.9GW will represent a growth of 726% in installed offshore wind capacity in Scotland. It is likely to be a number of years before the wind farm is operational, as the pre-construction and construction process can take 3 to -5 years. However, with installation, this will represent significant growth in Scotland's offshore wind sector.
- Policy and legislation were considered more important than the NMP for generating investment in marine sectors, including the UK target of 30GW installed capacity from offshore wind by 2030.
- The NMP interactive (NMPi) database was considered by all stakeholders to provide a comprehensive and accessible information resource.

3.4 Norway (North Sea and Skagerrak region)



Figure 5 - Total impact (direct, indirect induced) of MSP in Norway (North Sea and Skagerrak region)

- ✓ There is a tenuous link between MSP in the North Sea and Skagerrak region and the performance of the Norwegian blue economy. The statistical data collected for the period analysed revealed both upward and downward trends, and according to stakeholders interviewed, the main drivers are not to be found in the plan.
- The case of oil and gas is particularly interesting, in that the industry is by far the largest maritime activity in Norway. Its production value has gone down considerably in the last few years, mainly due to resource depletion and other factors that cannot be addressed by a spatial plan.
- ✓ Some stakeholders have noted that the plans are not legally binding they may establish a framework for consultation and location of activities and furnish useful guidelines, but the lack of zoning might suggest that they can only have a negligible effect on the performance of the economy.
- The plan addresses several industries that are at a nascent stage in Norway, such as offshore wind energy, offshore renewable energy, marine bioprospecting and marine mineral extraction. As of today, these industries are non-existent or too small.
- ✓ One should look again at the impact of spatial planning in the North Sea and Skagerrak region in a few years, as the emergent sectors' activities mature stage and start generating revenue, which might have a direct link with the management plan.
- ✓ In terms of transaction costs and administrative burden, the plan does not seem to have had a noticeable impact. Stakeholders confirmed that there is a clear, perceived benefit due to improved stability and certainty, but at the same time, some noted that the planning process itself has raised their costs, mainly due to studies and research to be carried out for compliance.

3.5 Rhode Island (USA)



Figure 6 - Total impact (direct, indirect and induced) of MSP in Rhode Island

Highlights

- The catalyst for the Rhode Island's Ocean Special Area Management Plans (SAMP) was offshore wind development. However, it was launched, prepared and adopted as a comprehensive ecosystem-based maritime spatial plan, not as a renewable energy facility siting plan.
- The first commercial wind farm, Block Island, is relatively modest in size with five turbines that only became operational in 2017. This is too recent to appear in the available Ocean Economy data, which only covers up to 2016. A second wind farm, with 50 turbines, will begin construction in 2020.
- The Ocean SAMP clearly made the outcomes more certain by reducing project development costs for the developers and significantly speeding up the consenting process.
- ✓ It is too soon to fully evaluate the impacts resulting from the development of the renewable energy sector in Rhode Island, but they are expected to be significant over the next ten years as more wind farms are licensed and built.
- There has been an upturn in marine construction and transport as these major construction projects have gotten underway. There also have been other local benefit recipients, such as food and accommodation providers during the construction phase. In the long term, operation and maintenance will provide permanent jobs and the need for vessel services.
- Commercial fishers are expected to see some restrictions on their operations and have agreed to a compensation package with developers as a result.
- ✓ There is some evidence of a positive impact on recreation and tourism the most valuable ocean economy sector. There already has been considerable tourist interest in the first U.S. offshore wind farm.

4 Does MSP generate economic benefits? Lessons from the case studies

The five case studies indicate that MSP **does generate economic benefits**. Belgium and Germany are clear examples of that. In Norway, the overall impact is negative, but that is largely due to the downward trend of the oil and gas industry, which does not

seem to be influenced by MSP at all. In Scotland and Rhode Island, it is too early to draw conclusions grounded on statistical analysis, but the general perception among stakeholders is that MSP is benefitting the blue economy, or at least part of it, directly, indirectly or induced.

- Direct impact. With the aforementioned and very specific exception of Norway the case studies reveal that MSP may foster economic growth by increasing production value and value added, and by generating employment in the blue economy.
- Indirect impact. Since the blue economy is deeply intertwined with the rest of the economy, growth in maritime activities produces knock-on effects that reverberate in other sectors as well. For example, when the offshore wind sector grows, part of its growth will, in turn, spur additional growth in those sectors that manufacture goods and services for the offshore wind sector.
- Induced impact. Direct and indirect growth implies that businesses hire more people, who in turn earn wages that are then spent on other things such as entertainment or health care.

At the same time, it cannot be stated unequivocally that MSP always generates economic benefits by definition. At its heart, MSP is a policy choice of allocating ocean space to different, competing economic sectors, based on an array of criteria set by a planning authority. There is no guarantee that the practice can generate economic benefits per se, nor does it have to. As this study has shown, many countries that resolve to implement MSP are primarily driven by environmental concerns, and thus they might be willing to pursue it in theory, even if the strict economic impact were negative.

Of course, EU Member States have a legal obligation to establish plans by the end of March 2021, but there are a number of reasons for thinking that MSP is likely to boost growth in the blue economy. For millennia, humans used the oceans essentially for procuring food, and moving goods and people from one place to another. More recently, however, the emergence of new technologies has transformed **the oceans into a source of economic prosperity and sustainable growth**. Today, the blue economy encompasses activities such as offshore wind energy, marine renewable energy and seaweed cultivation.



Figure 7 - Roman mosaic, Archaeological Museum, Sousse, Tunisia

© G. Mermet/Bridgeman Giraudon

First come, first served. All these activities compete for the same ocean space. In some cases, they are mutually exclusive, in others, they can co-exist peacefully and also create synergies with each other. Either way, a framework to regulate them is necessary. Fishing and shipping used to contend for ocean space, mainly based on the principle of "first come, first served". While ocean space has remained roughly the same, there now are many more activities that could potentially exploit it, and so "first come, first served" cannot possibly be a good criterion for apportioning space. However vast, ocean space is still finite, and in great demand.

Apportioned and optimised space. If the potential of the blue economy, whether from traditional or emerging sectors, is to be unleashed, economic activities should not be left to compete against each other in their quest for marine space. It is in the interest of society as a whole to maximise the potential benefits of the blue economy in its entirety, by apportioning and optimising space in such a way as to let all uses be carried out productively and sustainably.

Case-by-case preconditions. Whether benefits outweigh costs in practice is a matter that needs to be settled case by case. Evidence from the case studies identifies certain key preconditions needed for MSP to be successful.

- Stable framework. Cooperation and preparation would ideally need to start long before a plan's entry into force. A stable framework, one that generates certainty, stability and trust, is not built overnight, but rather is meticulously crafted over time. In Belgium, Germany and Rhode Island, precursors to the actual maritime spatial plans started even a decade before the entry into force of the legal document. The quantitative and qualitative evidence gathered during the study indicates that this approach pays off in the long run.
- Consultation. Oceans are used by different sectors of the economy, and all voices should be heard. States and planning authorities, of course, remain in charge of establishing their own priorities, but it is paramount that no actor that will eventually be affected by MSP feels neglected during the preparation process. Once again, the case studies are revealing as to the importance of consultation.

How consultation made a difference in Rhode Island

Quite often, fishers complain that the MSP process results in a loss of fishing opportunities for them. Whether this is right or wrong, the way negotiations are framed can make a difference. For instance, in Rhode Island, **fishers feel positive** about the role played by maritime spatial planning, even though overall the impact of developments on their sector is expected to be negative. The planning process provided independent information and facilitated discussions to enable compensation packages to be negotiated. Rhode Island was pro-active in conducting a mitigation programme ahead of the plan, which provided a template for defining the economic impact of developments. This allowed for what commercial fishers term the "least worst" situation with regards to the impact of developments on the sector.

Economic context. While the evidence gathered during the study points towards a positive contribution of MSP to the economy, it should be noted that its impact on economic indicators is rather limited, when compared with other macroeconomic and/or sector drivers, such as international agreements on maritime routes, new sources of energy, climate change or the price of raw materials. MSP can help to generate economic benefits, but one cannot expect that it can reverse global sector trends. The Norwegian

case study shows that there is nothing MSP could possibly do to reverse the downward trend of the oil and gas industry, which is suffering from depletion of resources and high extraction costs.

Political and economic catalyst. MSP acts as a catalyst for new political and economic developments. For example, it might anticipate or strengthen a trend, or it might contribute to limiting damage during a downturn. In December 2019, the European Commission announced the **European Green Deal**¹⁰, a roadmap for making the EU's economy sustainable by boosting the efficient use of resources by moving to a clean, circular economy, and by restoring biodiversity and cutting pollution. A clear framework to regulate the use of ocean space becomes even more important in light of the forthcoming policy changes that are to be expected as a consequence of the Green Deal.

5 What type of benefits does MSP bring?

The previous section hints that, if implemented correctly, there is scope for MSP to boost growth in the blue economy. It also makes the case for MSP's generating benefits for the whole economy, if indirect and induced impact are factored in.

However, questions remain as to how MSP impact actually plays out. In other words, if growth is generated, how does this happen in practice?

Many of the reviewed papers and reports find that: "most evidence of the economic benefits of MSP is qualitative rather than quantitative"¹¹. The following identifies the most consistently reported qualitative benefits.

- Promoting conflict resolution. By bringing different actors together, the MSP process tends to minimise or pre-empt conflicts between uses, between users, and between users and regulators.
- Contributing to trust-building. Building trust is a spill-over of participatory processes. When effective, they tend to build trust and consolidate relationships among stakeholders¹².
- Increasing stakeholder participation. Participatory processes increase stakeholder participation in public decision-making. This point is strictly related to conflict resolution and trust-building. MSP is no exception.
- Clarifying policy and decision-making. Policy-making may seem obscure to citizens and stakeholders. This may be related to, and increases concerns about, the distance between policy-makers and civil society, especially in the last few years with the upsurge of populist movements in western politics. In this sense, an inclusive decision-making process can only be beneficial to society.
- Improving information collection and retrieval. MSP is quite demanding in terms of data. Usually, the planning process has the unintended benefit of making available a wealth of data on the ocean and its uses – data which would have been otherwise unavailable to non-government actors.

Qualitative benefits generate quantitative benefits. Benefits identified as qualitative often can further generate quantitative benefits by, for example, improving the investment and economic climate of a region or by reducing costs. How to tease out the impact that each of the above-mentioned benefits has on the blue economy and its

¹⁰ The European Green Deal, COM(2019) 640 final, 11.12.2019.

¹¹ GHK Consulting, 2004. Potential benefits of marine spatial planning to economic activity in the UK, p. 68.

¹² Beierle and Konisky, Values, Conflict and Trust in Participatory Environmental Planning, Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, Vol. 19, No. 4, 2000, pp. 587-602.

sectors is a question that remains unanswered in the reviewed literature. However, their effects would still be captured in the economic performance of the activities affected by a plan, which is consistent with what emerged from the case studies in Belgium, Germany, Scotland, Norway and Rhode Island.

Indirect benefits. The case studies confirmed that MSP brings a number of indirect benefits to stakeholders. Generally speaking, stakeholders also see MSP favourably, even though they are not always able to quantify these indirect benefits:

Figure 8 – Stability and certainty help business thrive



Increased 4 stability and certainty. Stakeholders think that MSP increases legal stability and certainty, which are normally considered drivers economic growth. for The Belgian Offshore Cluster and the Offshore Platform Belgian stated that MSP has created (legal) certainty regarding the conditions and procedures that have to be adhered to, thereby accelerating high-risk investments, notably in the offshore wind sector. In Germany, Scotland and Rhode Island business expectations

and the investment environment have improved in the renewable energy sector as a consequence of the MSP process, according to the stakeholders interviewed during the study¹³. Even in Norway, where the link between MSP and economic growth seems to be rather weak, stakeholders clearly saw a benefit in having a stable and predictable framework for their business.

Figure 9 – Marine Scotland's NMPi, a much-appreciated spin-off of the MSP process in Scotland



Better access to information and data. Because the MSP process quite is intensive in terms of data collection and processing, usually the planning process has the unintended benefit of making available a wealth of data on the ocean and its uses, which would otherwise have been unavailable to non-government actors. In this sense, among our case studies, Scotland stands out as a best practice, because

its National Marine Plan is supported by the NMPi, its online interactive tool, together with Scotland's Marine Atlas, which provides an assessment of the condition of the Scottish marine area and a summary of significant pressures. All stakeholders

¹³ For the list of stakeholders interviewed in each country, please see the unabridged version of the study.

considered the NMPi database a comprehensive and accessible information resource, meeting sectoral and societal demands for knowledge and transparency. Its existence means not only that access to marine data has improved significantly with its introduction, but the same data sources are used by regulators, developers and operators to inform decisions, and encourage shared understanding and transparent decision-making.





* To be noted this table is based on all the answers received, regardless of sector and country. Since stakeholder perception of MSP varies considerably depending on country and sector, it is recommended that the individual case studies in the unabridged version of the study be looked at.

- Conflict resolution. Stakeholders in all case studies considered conflict resolution as a benefit, which in a way is at the heart of MSP. By bringing different actors together in a participatory process, MSP tends to minimise or pre-empt conflicts between uses, between users, as well as between users and regulators. In the Belgian case study, several interviewees mentioned that MSP stimulated interaction and mutual understanding, and the increased legal certainty with an MSP enables coexistence without conflict. A similar point of view was detected in all the other case studies. In Norway, the fishing industry and the oil and gas industry used to agree on how to use marine space bilaterally. Since the entry into force of the Management Plan for the North Sea and Skagerrak region, they have been doing it through the framework of the MSP process. That said, a certain degree of conflict persists, as was seen in nearly all the case studies – be it in Germany or Rhode Island – fishers expressed concern about new developments in the offshore wind sector.
- **Reduced transaction costs and administrative burden**. Much to the surprise of the authors, the study did not confirm the existence of certain benefits traditionally associated with MSP, namely reduction of transaction costs and of administrative burden. Stakeholders' opinion on reduction of transaction costs and administrative burden is controversial: few are able to quantify them, but nearly all believe that in the end there are no real savings. On the one hand, MSP reduces some administrative costs by, for example, cutting administrative burden, but on the other, it increases the costs of compliance by requiring additional studies. The two effects might cancel each other out. There is one important exception: fast-tracking. In principle, it is possible that certain sectors are "fast-tracked" by planning authorities and governments, and thus experience a reduction in both transaction

costs and administrative burden. For instance, the Rhode Island **MSP identified a specific location for a wind farm development**, which provided much greater consent certainty. A plan specifying an area that is a preferred location for a development will be of more direct benefit to developers (in terms of reducing risk) than a plan which only provides guidance, perhaps specifying the areas where a development would not be accepted, rather than where it would.

It is interesting to contrast the experience of the Block Island Wind Farm development under the Rhode Island maritime spatial plan with the Cape Wind Project, a proposed offshore wind farm off Cape Cod, Massachusetts. Cape Wind attempted to build a 130turbine installation for 15 years. The project was eventually approved, but following licencing and legislative setbacks, stakeholder objections, and a requirement to recommission bird studies at a cost of \$4 million, the developer terminated the site lease rights in late 2017, after spending more than \$65 million working through the regulatory and legal challenges.

The Block Island Wind Farm, on the other hand, not only avoided objection, it received

support from a number of stakeholders, and benefitted from the wealth of information developed under the MSP. The plan enabled two wind projects with expected annual gross revenues of US\$5-10 million and US\$50-100 million respectively. Rhode Island approved this project in less than a cutting year, its permitting process down from nearly five years. According to multiple interviewees, it is quite likely that these projects would not have happened without the plan.





The example of Rhode Island and Massachusetts illustrates that it is indeed possible to reduce transaction costs and administrative burden, if a planning authority resolves to do so. The lesson to learn here is that it cannot be taken for granted that the mere fact of implementing MSP will automatically deliver all the benefits traditionally associated with it.

6 Which blue economy sectors does MSP benefit the most?

A recurring research avenue in the economic literature on MSP explores whether some specific sectors tend to reap more benefits from the process than others. The findings of the study in this case are clear: the reviewed literature and the case studies show that certain sectors do seem to consistently benefit from MSP.

Before revealing who the winners are, it is first necessary to introduce a concept that is pivotal in economic research. Throughout the study, it is repeated that MSP allocates a scarce resource – in this case, ocean space – among several competing uses. Economists call it a "Pareto improvement" which refers to a new allocation that makes at least one individual better off, without making any other individual worse off. In the

real world, Pareto improvements are extremely rare, as any re-allocation implies a trade-off. MSP is no exception to this rule: if a portion of ocean space is allocated to an activity, such as a wind farm, it follows that, in principle, that same portion cannot be allocated to other uses, such as oil extraction. The policy can be considered desirable from the social point of view, only if overall benefits (regardless of who reaps them) outweigh costs (regardless of who bears them). This issue can also be framed in the

Figure 12 – MSP can facilitate coexistence between conflicting ocean uses

concept of "opportunity cost", meaning the benefits lost due to choosing one alternative over the other.

Some of the analysed studies correctly highlight the inevitable existence of trade-offs and opportunity costs, while others overlook them, focusing only on



immediately visible costs and benefits. A case also can be made that a given sector that "was disadvantaged" by MSP might have suffered even economic losses greater without The the plan. handbook example here is a wind farm that was going to be built on an especially productive fishing ground (Blau and Green, 2015), but thanks to careful planning was built elsewhere.

At the same time, not every new allocation of space necessarily leads to a trade-off between two or more sectors. While some sectors inevitably compete for the same space (e.g. fishers cannot fish in an aquaculture farm), others can coexist. Under the right circumstances, multiuse of a marine site through co-location of complementary activities can result in more efficient use of ocean space (Kite-Powell, 2017).

In general, plans have not usually brought major economic benefits to

incumbent industries such as commercial and recreational fisheries, or oil and gas extraction. Emerging sectors, especially offshore wind, tend to reap higher benefits, in some cases to the detriment of other traditional activities - or at least that is often the perception of stakeholders from the incumbent industries, such as fishers, who claim economic losses due to wind farm developments. Rather than avoid this impact, MSP can still create benefits by providing an independent process for assessing, minimising or mitigating the expected impact.

In Rhode Island, researchers found that "complete displacement the of commercial fishing would result in estimated direct output impacts to the regional economy of US\$5 million, leading to US\$11 million in direct, indirect and induced impacts, and a corresponding loss of about 150 jobs" (Hoagland, et al., 2015). The Rhode Island case study found that the MSP process was regarded as an "honest broker" in discussions between the fishers and the wind farm developers.

The impact is greater the more disruptive the change. For instance, in 2004, a new zoning plan by the authority for the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park (GBRMP) increased no-take areas from 4.5% to 33% of the total park area (GBRMPA, 2017). In particular, small-scale fishery fleets seem to be sensitive to developments, as their

operational range is more limited than offshore fleets. However, it should be noted that in the EU (e.g. the Netherlands and Germany), losses are expected to be negligible, as fishing revenue is more constrained by overfishing than by lack of space (Blau and Green, 2015).

MSP does not inevitably damage fishing activities or incumbent sectors in favour of emerging uses of the ocean. MSP is a policy that reflects the objectives pursued by policy-makers when allocating marine space. In the last few years there has been an increasing groundswell of public and policy opinion towards the objectives of environmental conservation. This, together with internationally agreed emission reduction targets, might persuade a planning authority to favour those sectors perceived as clean over more established uses of the ocean, such as fishing or extraction of oil and gas.

Favouring one sector over another often is a deliberate policy choice made by the planning authority, for which it is perfectly legitimate to prioritise one or more sectors over the others. The MSP Directive goes in the same direction, giving Member States full leeway when it comes to the actual content of their plans.

The German case study offers a perfect example of that. **Germany's MSP clearly sets shipping and offshore wind** as priority uses of Germany's Baltic Sea area, and our analysis confirmed that these sectors ended up benefitting the most from the plan itself. In a sense, from the policy angle, it can be argued that Germany's Baltic MSP is a success story, because it achieves the objectives it set.



Certain sectors may reap more benefits from MSP than others. This has nothing to do with the MSP process itself, it depends on the stated policy preference. The fact that emerging sectors are usually more advantaged than incumbent industries reflects new policy preferences for clean energy and sustainable use of resources. This is due to the increasing groundswell of public and policy opinion supporting environmental conservation, as well as the internationally agreed emission reduction targets. However,

there might also be another reason why the offshore wind sector consistently reaps higher benefits from MSP than its traditional competitors for ocean space.

If one accepts the principle that ocean space may be opened up to new uses, it is true that these new uses might subtract space previously used by incumbent industries, but it is equally true that without planning, consultation and negotiation, the loss of space might be even more harmful.

In the past, activities such as fishing and shipping had the entire ocean for themselves. Potential conflicts were easily dealt with by establishing shipping lanes and fishing areas. Yet, over time, ocean space has become increasingly crowded and regulated. While some activities can – and are actually encouraged to – co-exist in the same space, the general rule is that opening up ocean space to a new use leaves existing uses with less space. At this moment, offshore wind is the "most mature emerging activity" in the blue economy, and it is perfectly logical that planning authorities allocate new space for it. The case studies of Belgium, Germany, Scotland and Rhode Island cover a time span that coincides with the onset of the offshore wind farms. In some cases, it might be argued that the increased competition for space – drive by wind farms – made evident the need for planning the use of ocean space. It follows that the offshore wind sector went from ground zero to rapid growth, while stakeholders from incumbent industries quite often saw this rapid change as a threat to their business.

At the same time, traditional industries such as fisheries and offshore oil and gas are also affected by structural changes that have a negative impact on their output, such as endangered commercial stocks and resource depletion. The relative loss of ocean space in favour of the offshore wind sector does not necessarily lead to a linear reduction in their output. In fact, because wind farms would have been built anyway, it might well be argued the MSP process helped limit damage and delivered what Rhode Island fishers called the "least worst" outcome. In other words, having a plan that regulates the use of ocean space in a rational way actually limits damages.

7 How do stakeholders view MSP?

Generally speaking, and as shown in the case studies, stakeholders view MSP as a good opportunity to foster coordination among industries, and **generally perceive it as positive** (see Figure 10). Yet, the case studies also revealed that opinions about MSP may vary to a great extent across stakeholders from different sectors and from different countries. While differences in how MSP is perceived might simply be due each plan being the product of unique, local circumstances, some common patterns may be identified.

Apart from a few exceptions – discussed in the next paragraph – there seems to be a clear fracture between traditional and emerging sectors. For example, fishers often feel that their opportunities are diminished by MSP, because they think MSP favours emerging sectors of the blue economy, such as wind energy. In these cases, as one might expect, those who believe they have been damaged by MSP tend to view it negatively, whereas other groups may hold neutral or more positive opinions.

Interestingly, certain views are common to all stakeholders, regardless of the impact they believe MSP has had on their business. Nearly all believe that MSP increases legal stability and certainty. In other words, simply instigating a public process of allocating ocean space according to clear criteria increases stability and certainty.

That said, certain stakeholders might not necessarily think that increased stability and certainty are beneficial to their business, as their judgement mainly depends on whether the new and more predictable business environment favours their sector.

The same can be said when it comes to the impact of MSP on investment and business expectations. Of the stakeholders interviewed, 63% believe that MSP exerts some influence on the investment climate, thus altering business expectations. Whether this is seen as a good or bad feature of MSP is an entirely different story. Again, those who typically benefit from MSP – possibly because it creates a new legal framework for a nascent industry – obviously are optimistic for their businesses.

At the same time, stakeholders who are very vocal about MSP often have no hesitation in admitting that the process does have an impact on investment climate and business expectations. The difference is that the latter attach a negative connotation to the word impact. It follows that MSP does produce a tangible economic impact, which can be perceived as positive or negative by stakeholders depending on how it affects their business. On the other hand, the net effect of MSP on the whole economy requires factoring in all costs and benefits, as repeated throughout this study.

It remains difficult to give a full and unambiguous account of how stakeholders view MSP, because their views are inevitably affected by the impact that the plan has had on their business. Every plan has its own characteristics, which makes it unique and often difficult to compare with other plans. From the point of view of a planner, the real question is how to win buy-in – even from those stakeholders who, absent an inclusive and participatory process, might feel neglected by MSP. This is analysed in the following section.

8 Examples of successful stakeholder buy-in and reasons for success

Buy-in refers to accepting a policy or change because one agrees with it. Ideally, the chief objective of any planning authority should be to win every stakeholder's buy-in, even though achieving this might be unrealistic.

The case studies found that it is relatively easy to win the favour of stakeholders from emergent industries, as quite often the onset of a planning process coincides with the need for securing ocean space to new economic activities. If one looks at stakeholder replies broken down by sector in the case studies, it is evident that wind energy developers are enthusiastic about MSP, and for a good reason – the dawn of the industry is accompanied by a stable legal framework, which allocates ocean space and quite often, in the case of wind energy, reduces transaction costs. It is equally as easy to win stakeholders' buy-in when certain ocean uses are prioritised over others and, yes, plans often clearly place the development of certain sectors at the top of their priority list. Admittedly, barring unforeseen circumstances, stakeholders from those sectors are supportive of the planning process.

Hence, the real challenge is to win stakeholders' buy-in when conflicts between uses exists, and when some stakeholders, rightly or wrongly, believe that their business has been or is likely to be damaged by MSP. There are multiple ways to do this, and the case studies offer some good examples.

Explore multi-use of marine space. Multi-Use in European Seas (MUSES), a Horizon 2020-project focusing on commercial fisheries and offshore wind farm development on the east coast of Scotland, found enhanced multi-use of marine space had potential to improve its value for society and the local economy, such as longevity of the fishing industry. It also saw the potential of combining offshore wind farms with other activities, such as offshore storage, enhanced oil recovery, desalination, wave energy and low-maintenance aquaculture. Specific to offshore wind and commercial fisheries, multi-use recommendations on marine planning called for:

- consideration of multi-use opportunity mapping, rather than constraints mapping
- introduction of stronger coexistence policies with explicit reference to multi-use
- development of good practice guidance on how to construct a wind farm to make it fishing-friendly.

Create synergies through consultation and negotiation. Where conflicts exist and when some stakeholders might be damaged by an emerging sector, it is wise to design the planning process in such a way as to create synergies among competing uses. In practice, this should be done through consultation and negotiation, as ideally all the parties sitting at the same table should be ready to make some concessions to each other.



Figure 14 – Consultation does make a difference

Involve stakeholders in consultation from the outset. In Rhode Island, private sector stakeholders (fisheries, marine trades) beina appreciated involved from the outset and that the consultation was maintained throughout the process. This meant that stakeholders got to know each other and their different perspectives. There was an understanding that offshore wind development was going to happen and that

Rhode Island would benefit socio-economically from being the first. This created more of a shared purpose to the MSP process, rather than each sector vying for space. Rhode Island's wind farms, now located offshore, accommodated restrictions for navigational and military constraints, and were designed to avoid some key fishing grounds. For example, when commercial fishers shared that bottom-fishing in the area is mainly in an east-west orientation, corridors were designed E-W, which has allowed fishing to continue – between turbines.

There was an understanding that offshore wind development was going to happen and that Rhode Island would benefit socio-economically from being the first. There was therefore a shared objective to make sure that the development was in the right place. This created more of a shared purpose to the MSP process, rather than each sector competing for space. The Rhode Island case study is particularly inspiring in this sense, because it is one of the few exceptions in which fishers are not unhappy with the development of the offshore wind industry. Even though losses are expected, they fully realised that, sooner or later, wind farms would have been built. So, reconciling conflicting views in the framework of a well-designed planning process has led to a "least worst" outcome.

Negotiate compensation packages.

The idea of compensating those who bear losses from MSP is controversial. In most legal systems, nobody is assigned property rights on ocean space. In fact, even when there is exclusive use of an area, it is normally leased rather than sold. Without an existing allocation of property rights, it is difficult to argue that a new industry bears liability for any damage to the existing industries competing for the same ocean space.

Reality, however, is more nuanced, and compensation may be an effective means of contributing to solving conflicts. Planning authorities might help negotiate compensation packages to be paid to those suffering economic losses as a consequence of a new allocation of space brought about by MSP. Two approaches can be In 1960, the late economist and Nobel laureate Ronald Coase, wrote The Problem of Social Cost, a paper which revolutionised the way economists and lawyers understood legal liability rules. In determining to whom liability ought to be assigned for a particular externality, Coase wrote it made little sense to assign liability to the "perpetrator" of the harm, since we cannot know who the "perpetrator" is without reference to an existing allocation of property rights. Coase also showed that, if transactions are costless, the initial allocation of legal rights will have no effect on who uses a particular resource; resources will end up in the hands of those who value them most. This insight, known as the "Coase theorem" emphasized that decisions about assignments of liability should include reference to contextually specific transaction costs. Coase's is a theorem, not a theory, because its real-life applications are not numerous. However, it offers useful insights to manage conflicts within MSP: there are no property rights on the ocean, so it may make sense to let competing stakeholders agree on compensation packages.

envisaged: i) government funding and ii) compensation paid by stakeholders that benefit from the new allocation of space – provided that they can compensate the other stakeholders with what they gain and still make profits. The first option was implemented in the framework of Australia's Great Barrier Reef Marine Park, whereas the second was pursued in Rhode Island.

9 What more do we need to learn?

Despite the effort made, this study can only be seen as a first step towards the definition of a framework for the quantification of the economic impact of MSP, which can be further improved in the future.

There remain a number of challenges and gaps that ought to be tackled to obtain a more refined measurement of a plan.

Figure 15 The EU Blue Economy Report



Increase availability of statistical data. Poor data availability is consistently reported as one of the toughest barriers to economic research on the blue economy. This is mostly due to the current statistical classification systems grouping economic activities according to their function, rather than to where they take place. As a consequence, it is extremely difficult to access reliable data for many sectors of the blue economy – unless strong assumptions are made.

Strengthen data accuracy. More and better data would strengthen the reliability and accuracy of the results obtained. The method used for this study relied on Eurostat's Structural Business Statistics (SBS), following the approach of the Blue Economy Report published by the European Commission. However, in many cases MSP is carried out at regional or sea-basin level, and the geographical resolution of SBS does makes it impossible to break down the data to the desired level.

Monitor impacts. Planning authorities often do not measure the economic effects of their plans – either the plan's impact or its administrative costs – probably because environmental conservation is their main concern. Absence of this data from the plan's implementer means measuring the economic impact of MSP may remain an exercise fraught with uncertainties.

Include environmental and ecosystem concerns in assessments. Environmental benefits and ecosystem services are explicitly out of the scope of this study, as another EU Commission study is dealing with them. However, quite often, environmental concerns are the main drivers behind the MSP process, and they can and should be quantified in monetary terms.



Without data from planning authorities on the costs of MSP, and without taking into environmental account externalities, it is not possible to carry out a complete cost-benefit analysis or to establish the viability of MSP in terms of social welfare. During the study, thanks to data provided by the Belgian administration, it was possible to attempt a complete cost-benefit analysis at least for the MSP. Belgian By

factoring in all benefits and costs, including those borne by the public administration to set up the planning process, the overall effect on the Belgian economy showed a clearly positive balance ranging from a minimum of \in 209.8 million to a maximum of \in 415 million euros over the period 2014–2016.

Over the next year, it is expected that an increasing number of EU Member States will publish their maritime spatial plans, as the 2021 deadline set by the MSP Directive gets

Figure 16 - Maritime spatial plan for the Belgian part of the North Sea. . Source: "Something is moving at sea", 2014

closer. It might be the perfect occasion to fine tune the framework developed under this study and test it with better and more abundant data. Should some Member States approve regional plans at different moments in time, it could be an opportunity to use different regions within the same Member State as control groups for each other and verify whether the effects of MSP materialise in the same amount of time across different locations.

10 References

Agostini, V. N., Margles, S. W., Knowles, J. K., Schill, S. R., Bovino, R. J., & Blyther, R. J. (n.d.). Marine zoning in St. Kitts and Nevis: A design for sustainable management in the Caribbean. Ocean and Coastal Management, 104, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2014.11.003

Ansong, J., MacMahon, E. and O'Hagan, A.M. (2018). Case Study 1 – Understanding specific cross border issues and opportunities: Offshore Renewable Energy and Shipping & Navigation (Deliverable 10). EU Project Grant No.: EASME/EMFF/2014/1.2.1.5/3/SI2.719473 MSP Lot 3. Supporting Implementation of Maritime Spatial Planning in the Celtic Seas (SIMCelt). University College Cork. 59pp

Atreya, A., Kriesel, W., & Mullen, J. D. (2016). Valuing Open Space in a Marshland Environment: Development Alternatives for Coastal Georgia. Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics, 48(4), 383–402. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/aae.2016.25</u>

Ban, N. C., Hansen, G. J. A., Jones, M., & Vincent, A. C. J. (2009). Systematic marine conservation planning in data-poor regions: Socioeconomic data is essential. Marine Policy, 33(5), 794–800. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2009.02.011</u>

Bastardie, F., Nielsen, J. R., Eigaard, O. R., Fock, H. O., Jonsson, P., & Bartolino, V. (2015). Competition for marine space: Modelling the Baltic Sea fisheries and effort displacement under spatial restrictions. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 72(3), 824–840. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsu215</u>

Baruah, E.L., Fairgrieve, R. and Ross, L. (2017) SIMCelt: Initial comparison of requirements of, and differences between, UK primary legislation pertinent to marine planning (D12.1). EU Project Grant Agreement No:

EASME/EMFF/2014/1.2.1.5/3/SI2.719473 MSP Lot 3. Supporting Implementation of Maritime Spatial Planning in the Celtic Seas (SIMCelt). Marine Scotland. 49pp.

Baruah, E.L., Fairgrieve, R. and Haddon, P. (2017) SIMCelt: Report on Sectoral Interactions around the Solway Firth in relation to marine planning (D12.3). EU Project Grant Agreement No: EASME/EMFF/2014/1.2.1.5/3/SI2.719473 MSP Lot 3. Supporting Implementation of Maritime Spatial Planning in the Celtic Seas (SIMCelt). Marine Scotland. 84pp.

Bates, A. W. (2017). Revisiting Approaches to Marine Spatial Planning: Perspectives on and Implications for the United States. Agricultural and Resource Economics Review, 46(2), 206–223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/age.2017.11</u>

Bates, A. W. (2017). Revisiting Approaches to Marine Spatial Planning: Perspectives on and Implications for the United States. Agricultural and Resource Economics Review, 46(2), 206–223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/age.2017.11</u>

Blæsbjerg, M. (2009). Marine Spatial Planning in the Nordic Region: Principles, Perspectives and Opportunities: Outcomes from the Nordic Forum on MPAs in Marine Spatial Planning. Nordic Council of Ministers.

Blau, J., & Green, L. (2015). Assessing the impact of a new approach to ocean management: Evidence to date from five ocean plans. Marine Policy, 56, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2015.02.004

Breen, B., & Hynes, S. (2014). Shortcomings in the European principles of Integrated Coastal Zone Management (ICZM): Assessing the implications for locally orientated coastal management using Biome Portfolio Analysis (BPA). Marine Policy, 44, 406–418. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2013.10.002</u>

Brown, C. J. (2016). Social, economic and environmental effects of closing commercial fisheries to enhance recreational fishing. Marine Policy, 73, 204–209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2016.08.010</u>

Cabral, R. B., Gaines, S. D., Johnson, B. A., Bell, T. W., & White, C. (2017). Drivers of redistribution of fishing and non-fishing effort after the implementation of a marine protected area network: Ecological Applications, 27(2), 416–428. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1446

Caldow, C., Monaco, M. E., Pittman, S. J., Kendall, M. S., Goedeke, T. L., Menza, C., Costa, B. M. (2015). Biogeographic assessments: A framework for information synthesis in marine spatial planning. Marine Policy, 51, 423–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2014.07.023

Carneiro et al, 2017. Rhode Island Ocean Special Area Management Plan Case Study Report. Gonçalo Carneiro, Sara Méndez Roldán, Jennifer McCann. May, 2017. As part of the "Study On International Best Practices For Cross-Border Maritime Spatial Planning ".<u>https://publications.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-</u> /publication/8a07e794-45aa-11e7-aea8-01aa75ed71a1

Castanedo, S., Juanes, J. A., Medina, R., Puente, A., Fernandez, F., Olabarrieta, M., & Pombo, C. (2009). Oil spill vulnerability assessment integrating physical, biological and socio-economical aspects: Application to the Cantabrian coast (Bay of Biscay, Spain). Journal of Environmental Management, 91(1), 149–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2009.07.013

Coccoli, C., Galparsoro, I., Murillas, A., Pinarbaşı, K., & Fernandes, J. A. (2018). Conflict analysis and reallocation opportunities in the framework of marine spatial planning: A novel, spatially explicit Bayesian belief network approach for artisanal fishing and aquaculture. Marine Policy, 94, 119-131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2018.04.015</u>

Cordier, M., Pérez, J. A., Connor, M. O., Rochette, S., & Hecq, W. (2011). Quantification of interdependencies between economic systems and ecosystem services : An input – output model applied to the Seine estuary. Ecological Economics, 70(9), 1660–1671. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2011.04.009</u>

CRMC, 2005. Rhode Island Coastal Resources Management Council: Over 30 years of Accomplishments in Coastal Management. M Schwartz (ed.) Rhode Island Sea Grant, Narragansett, R.I. 36pp. <u>http://www.crmc.ri.gov/guidesreports/CRMC_30YearsBW.pdf</u>

CRMC, 2010 Rhode Island Ocean Special Area Management Plan

Crown Estate Scotland (2018). New offshore wind leasing for Scotland: Discussion Document. Available at:

https://www.crownestatescotland.com/bundles/app/downloads/5b0167c3d4463 Offsh ore%20Wind%20Discussion%20Document%20-%20May%202018.pdf

Day, J. C. (2015). Marine spatial planning: One of the fundamental tools to help achieve effective marine conservation in the Great Barrier Reef. In Transboundary Marine Spatial Planning and International Law (pp. 119-147). Routledge.

Ehler, C. and Douvere, F. (2009) Marine spatial planning: a step-by-step approach. Paris, France, Unesco, 99pp. (IOC Manuals and Guides 53), (ICAM Dossier 6). DOI http://dx.doi.org/10.25607/OBP-43

European Commission Study on the economic effects of Maritime Spatial Planning – Final report Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. <u>https://doi.org/10.2771/85535</u> Fernandes, M. da L., Esteves, T. C., Oliveira, E. R., & Alves, F. L. (2017). How does the cumulative impacts approach support Maritime Spatial Planning? Ecological Indicators, 73, 189–202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2016.09.014</u>

Ferreira, M. A. D. O. (2017). Evaluating Performance of Portuguese Marine Spatial Planning. Doctoral Thesis. Universidade Nova de Lisboa. 699pp.

Final Report: Development of a Framework to Assess the Economic Impact of Coastal and Marine Tourism in South Africa, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, 2017. Department of Tourism, Republic of South Africa. 94 pp.

Freeman, M. C., Whiting, L., & Kelly, R. P. (2016). Assessing potential spatial and temporal conflicts in Washington's marine waters. Marine Policy, 70, 137–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2016.04.050

Gaddis, E. B., Miles, B., Morse, S., & Lewis, D. (2007). Full-cost accounting of coastal disasters in the United States: Implications for planning and preparedness. Ecological Economics, 63(2–3), 307–318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2007.01.015</u>

GHK Consulting and Scott Wilson (2004) Potential benefits of marine spatial planning to economic activity in the UK. A report from GHK Consulting Ltd in association with Scott Wilson. The RSPB, Sandy, UK

Gimpel, A., Stelzenmüller, V., Cormier, R., Floeter, J., & Temming, A. (2013). A spatially explicit risk approach to support marine spatial planning in the German EEZ. Marine Environmental Research, 86, 56–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2013.02.013

Gimpel, A., Stelzenmüller, V., Grote, B., Buck, B. H., Floeter, J., Núñez-Riboni, I., ... Temming, A. (2015). A GIS modelling framework to evaluate marine spatial planning scenarios: Co-location of offshore wind farms and aquaculture in the German EEZ. Marine Policy, 55, 102–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2015.01.012</u>

Goti-Aralucea, L. (2017). Assessing the social and economic impact of small scale fisheries management measures in a marine protected area with limited data. Marine Policy, (October), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.10.039</u>

Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority (2017), Managing for a resilient Great Barrier Reef Marine Park supporting information paper and workbook, GBRMPA, Townsville

Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority 2014, Great Barrier Reef Region Strategic Assessment: Strategic assessment report, GBRMPA, Townsville.

Griffin, R., Chaumont, N., Denu, D., Guerry, A., Kim, C. K., & Ruckelshaus, M. (2015). Incorporating the visibility of coastal energy infrastructure into multi-criteria siting decisions. Marine Policy, 62, 218–223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2015.09.024</u>

Guerry, A. D., Ruckelshaus, M. H., Arkema, K. K., Bernhardt, J. R., Guannel, G., Kim, C. K., ... Spencer, J. (2012). Modeling benefits from nature: Using ecosystem services to inform coastal and marine spatial planning. International Journal of Biodiversity Science, Ecosystem Services and Management, 8(1–2), 107–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/21513732.2011.647835

Hoagland, P., Dalton, T. M., Jin, D., & Dwyer, J. B. (2015). An approach for analyzing the spatial welfare and distributional effects of ocean wind power siting: The Rhode Island/Massachusetts area of mutual interest. Marine Policy, 58, 51–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2015.04.010 Huang, W., Corbett, J. J., & Jin, D. (2015). Regional economic and environmental analysis as a decision support for marine spatial planning in Xiamen. Marine Policy, 51, 555–562. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2014.09.006</u>

Hull, S., Dickie, I., Tinch, R., & Saunders, J. (2014). Issues and challenges in spatiotemporal application of an ecosystem services framework to UK seas. Marine Policy, 45, 359–367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2013.09.011</u>

Jacob, C., Pioch, S., & Thorin, S. (2016). The effectiveness of the mitigation hierarchy in environmental impact studies on marine ecosystems: A case study in France. Environmental Impact Assessment Review, 60, 83–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eiar.2016.04.001

Janßen, H., & Schwarz, F. (2015). On the potential benefits of marine spatial planning for herring spawning conditions-An example from the western Baltic Sea. Fisheries Research, 170, 106–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2015.05.023</u>

Jay S. (2017) Marine Spatial Planning - Assessing net benefits and improving effectiveness. GGSD Meeting, OECD. Paris. 35pp

Jin, D., Hoagland, P., & Wikgren, B. (2013). An empirical analysis of the economic value of ocean space associated with commercial fishing. Marine Policy, 42, 74–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2013.01.014</u>

Kafas, A. (2017). MUSES Project Case Study 1a Offshore Wind and Commercial Fisheries in the East Coast of Scotland MUSES Deliverable: D3.3: Case Study Implementation – Annex 1. Marine Scotland.

Kaiser, M. J., & Pulsipher, A. G. (2004). The potential value of improved ocean observation systems in the Gulf of Mexico. Marine Policy, 28(6), 469–489. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2003.11.002</u>

Kenchington, R. A., & Day, J. C. (2011). Zoning, a fundamental cornerstone of effective Marine Spatial Planning: lessons learnt from the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Journal of Coastal Conservation, 15(2), 271-278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11852-011-0147-2</u>

Kirkpatrick et al (2017) Kirkpatrick, A.J., S. Benjamin, G.S. DePiper, T. Murphy, S. Steinback, and C. Demarest. 2017. Socio- Economic Impact of Outer Continental Shelf Wind Energy Development on Fisheries in the U.S. Atlantic. Volume I—Report Narrative. U.S Dept. of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, Atlantic OCS Region, Washington, D.C. OCS Study BOEM 2017-012. 150 pp. https://www.boem.gov/ESPIS/5/5580.pdf

Kite-Powell H.L., Economics of Multi-use and Co-location, in Aquaculture Perspective of Multi-Use Sites in the Open Ocean, pp. 233-249, 2017.

Klain, S. C., & Chan, K. M. A. (2012). Navigating coastal values: Participatory mapping of ecosystem services for spatial planning. Ecological Economics, 82, 104–113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2012.07.008</u>

Leontief, W., Input-Output Economics. 2nd ed., New York: Oxford University Press, 1986.

Marine Scotland (2011). Blue Seas – Green Energy. A Sectoral Marine Plan for Offshore Wind Energy in Scottish Territorial Waters. Available at: <u>https://www2.gov.scot/Resource/Doc/346375/0115264.pdf</u>

Marine Scotland (2018). Scotland's Marine Economy, topic sheet number 99. Available at: <u>https://www2.gov.scot/Resource/0054/00541790.pdf</u>

Marine Scotland, Scotland's Marine Economy (2008-2016), available on-line at: https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/marine/Publications/TopicSheets/tslist/economy

Marzetti, S., Disegna, M., Koutrakis, E., Sapounidis, A., Marin, V., Martino, S., Paoli, C. (2016). Visitors' awareness of ICZM and WTP for beach preservation in four European Mediterranean regions. Marine Policy, 63, 100–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2015.10.005

Mason, J., Kosaka, R., Mamula, A., & Speir, C. (2012). Effort changes around a marine reserve: The case of the California Rockfish Conservation Area. Marine Policy, 36(5), 1054–1063. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2012.03.002</u>

McCann et al, 2013 Ocean SAMP Practitioners Guide. McCann, J. and S. Schumann, with G. Fugate, S. Kennedy, and C. Young. 2013. The Rhode Island Ocean Special Area Management Plan: Managing Ocean Resources Through Coastal and Marine Spatial Planning. University of Rhode Island Coastal Resources Center/Rhode Island Sea Grant College Program, Narragansett, R.I.

https://seagrant.gso.uri.edu/oceansamp/pdf/Practitioner Guide.pdf

McCann et al, 2014. Lessons Learned from the RI Ocean Special Area Management Plan. Jennifer McCann, Tiffany Smythe, Danielle Turek and Tom Pavitt. URI CRC December 2014.

https://www.crc.uri.edu/download/OSAMPpresentation 12.19.2014.pdf

McCay et al, 2011. Ecological Value Map (EVM) for the Rhode Island Ocean Special Area Management Plan. May, 2011 Update. Deborah French McCay, Melanie Schroeder, Eileen Graham, Danielle Reich, and Jill Rowe. Applied Science Associates <u>https://seagrant.gso.uri.edu/oceansamp/pdf/appendix/28-ASA_EVM_Update.pdf</u>

McIlgorm, A. (2009a). The economic contribution of the marine economy: Southeast Asia leads the way! In A. Ross Ed. "The Marine Economy in Times of Change". PEMSEA, Tropical CoastsVol.16 No.1 p80 ISSN0117-9756, July.

Metcalfe, K., Bréheret, N., Chauvet, E., Collins, T., Curran, B. K., Parnell, R. J., Godley, B. J. (2018). Using satellite AIS to improve our understanding of shipping and fill gaps in ocean observation data to support marine spatial planning. Journal of Applied Ecology, 55(4), 1834–1845. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13139</u>

Miller, Ronald E. and Peter D. Blair. Input-Output Analysis: Foundations and Extensions, 2nd edition. Cambridge University Press, 2009;

Mulvaney, 2013. First Biennial Assessment Of The Rhode Island Ocean Special Area Management Plan Process. Kate K. Mulvaney Prepared for the Rhode Island Coastal Resources Management Council and the University of Rhode Island Coastal Resources Center Funded by the Rhode Island Office of Energy Resources. November 2013

https://seagrant.gso.uri.edu/oceansamp/pdf/documents/doc osamp evaluation.pdf

NOAA, 2018. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), Office for Coastal Management. 2018. "NOAA Report on the U.S. Ocean and Great Lakes Economy." Charleston, SC: NOAA Office for Coastal Management. Available at http://coast.noaa.gov/digitalcoast/training/econreport.html.

Nobre, A. M., Musango, J. K., de Wit, M. P., & Ferreira, J. G. (2009). A dynamic ecological-economic modeling approach for aquaculture management. Ecological Economics, 68(12), 3007–3017. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2009.06.019</u>

Nomura, K. J., Kaplan, D. M., Beckensteiner, J., & Scheld, A. M. (2017). Comparative analysis of factors influencing spatial distributions of marine protected areas and

territorial use rights for fisheries in Japan. Marine Policy, 82(December 2016), 59–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.05.005

Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment (2013). Integrated Management of the Marine Environment of the North Sea and Skagerrak (Management Plan). Report by Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment. pp 145.

Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment (2017) Update of the integrated management plan for the Norwegian Sea <u>http://www.miljodirektoratet.no/no/Havforum/Forside/English/</u>

Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment. Update of the integrated management plan for the Barents Sea – Lofoten area including an update of the delimitation of the marginal ice zone. 55pp

O'Mahoney, J., Simes, R., Redhill, D., Heaton, K., Atkinson, C., Hayward, E., & Nguyen, M. (2017). At what price? The economic, social and icon value of the Great Barrier Reef. Available on-line at

https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/au/Documents/Economics/deloitteau-economics-great-barrier-reef-230617.pdf

Papathanasopoulou, E., White, M. P., Hattam, C., Lannin, A., Harvey, A., & Spencer, A. (2016). Valuing the health benefits of physical activities in the marine environment and their importance for marine spatial planning. Marine Policy, 63, 144–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2015.10.009

Parsons, G. Firestone, J. 2018. Atlantic Offshore Wind Energy Development: Values and Implications for Recreation and Tourism. Sterling (VA): US Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management. OCS Study BOEM 2018-013. 52 p.

Pascal, N., Brathwaite, A., Brander, L., Seidl, A., Philip, M., & Clua, E. (2018). Evidence of economic benefits for public investment in MPAs. Ecosystem Services, 30, 3-13 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2017.10.017</u>

Peng, B., Hong, H., Xue, X., & Jin, D. (2006). On the measurement of socioeconomic benefits of integrated coastal management (ICM): Application to Xiamen, China. Ocean & coastal management, 49(3-4), 93-109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2006.02.002

Picone, F., Buonocore, E., D'Agostaro, R., Donati, S., Chemello, R., & Franzese, P. P. (2017). Integrating natural capital assessment and marine spatial planning: A case study in the Mediterranean sea. Ecological Modelling, 361, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2017.07.029

Pinarbaşı, K., Galparsoro, I., Borja, Á., Stelzenmüller, V., Ehler, C. N., & Gimpel, A. (2017). Decision support tools in marine spatial planning: Present applications, gaps and future perspectives. Marine Policy, 83(May), 83–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.05.031

Pomeroy, R. S., Baldwin, K., & McCONNEY, P. (2014). Marine Spatial Planning in Asia and the Caribbean: application and implications for fisheries and marine resource management. Desenvolvimento e Meio Ambiente, 32, 151-164. . https://doi.org/10.5380/dma.v32i0.35627

Price, James H. and Murnan, Judy. "Research Limitations and the Necessity of Reporting Them." American Journal of Health Education 35 (2004): 66-67.

Rassweiler, A., Costello, C., Hilborn, R., & Siegel, D. A. (2014). Integrating scientific guidance into marine spatial planning. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 281(1781). <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.2252</u>

Rees, S. E., Mangi, S. C., Hattam, C., Gall, S. C., Rodwell, L. D., Peckett, F. J., & Attrill, M. J. (2015). The socio-economic effects of a Marine Protected Area on the ecosystem service of leisure and recreation. Marine Policy, 62, 144–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2015.09.011

Rees, S. E., Rodwell, L. D., Attrill, M. J., Austen, M. C., & Mangi, S. C. (2010). The value of marine biodiversity to the leisure and recreation industry and its application to marine spatial planning. Marine Policy, 34(5), 868–875. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2010.01.009

Reimer, M. N., & Haynie, A. C. (2018). Mechanisms matter for evaluating the economic impacts of marine reserves. Journal of Environmental Economics and Management, 88, 427–446. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2018.01.009</u>

Ritchie, H., & Ellis, G. (2010). "A system that works for the sea"? Exploring stakeholder engagement in marine spatial planning. Journal of Environmental Planning and Management, 53(6), 701–723. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09640568.2010.488100</u>

Ruiz-Frau, A., Hinz, H., Edwards-Jones, G., & Kaiser, M. J. (2013). Spatially explicit economic assessment of cultural ecosystem services: Non-extractive recreational uses of the coastal environment related to marine biodiversity. Marine Policy, 38, 90–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2012.05.023

Ruiz-Frau, A., Kaiser, M. J., Edwards-Jones, G., Klein, C. J., Segan, D., & Possingham, H. P. (2015). Balancing extractive and non-extractive uses in marine conservation plans. Marine Policy, 52, 11–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2014.10.017</u>

Sanchirico, J. N. (2008). Sustainable Use of Renewable Resources: Implications of Spatial-Dynamic Ecological and Economic Processes. International Review of Environmental and Resource Economics, 1(4), 367–405. https://doi.org/10.1561/101.0000009

Sanchirico, J. N., Lew, D. K., Haynie, A. C., Kling, D. M., & Layton, D. F. (2013). Conservation values in marine ecosystem-based management. Marine Policy, 38, 523– 530. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2012.08.008</u>

Sangiuliano, S., & Mastrantonis, S. (2017). From Scotland to New Scotland: Constructing a sectoral marine plan for tidal energy for Nova Scotia. Marine Policy, 84, 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.06.023</u>

Scottish Government (2018). Scotland's Marine Economic Statistics, 2016: An experimental statistics publication for Scotland. Available at: <u>https://www2.gov.scot/Resource/0054/00541617.pdf</u>

Scottish Government (2018). Scotland's Marine Economy: Economic Statistics excel database. Including a time series of GVA, turnover and employment for industrial categories defined as part of the marine sector for 2008 to 2016. Available at: https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/marine/Publications/TopicSheets/tslist/economy

Scottish Government (2018). Scotland's marine economic statistics. Available at: https://www.gov.scot/publications/scotlands-marine-economic-statistics/

Scottish Government (2018). National Marine Plan Review 2018: three-year report. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.scot/publications/national-marine-plan-review-2018-three-year-report-implementation-scotlands/pages/4/</u>

Scottish Government (2015). Scotland's National Marine Plan. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.scot/publications/scotlands-national-marine-plan/</u>

Scottish Renewables (2019). Renewables in Numbers. <u>https://www.scottishrenewables.com/forums/renewables-in-numbers/#chart12</u> Blau & Green (2015)

Schumann et al, 2016. Schumann, S., T. Smythe, N. Andrescavage and C. Fox. 2016. The Rhode Island Ocean Special Area Management Plan, 2008 – 2015: From Inception through Implementation. In McCann, J., Ed. 2016. *Case Studies of Marine Spatial Planning Report Series*. Coastal Resources Center and Rhode Island Sea Grant College Program, URI Graduate School of Oceanography. Narragansett, R.I. 80 pp. <u>https://www.crc.uri.edu/download/OceanSAMPImplCaseStudy_FIN.pdf</u>

Smythe T., N. Andrescavage and C. Fox. 2016. The Rhode Island Ocean Special Area Management Plan, 2008 – 2015: From Inception through Implementation. In McCann, J., Ed. 2016. *Case Studies of Marine Spatial Planning Report Series*. Coastal Resources Center and Rhode Island Sea Grant College Program, URI Graduate School of Oceanography. Narragansett, R.I. 80 pp.

https://www.crc.uri.edu/download/OceanSAMPImplCaseStudy 8.23 FINAL.pdf

Sproul & Michaud (2018a) The Economic Impact of Rhode Island's Fisheries and Seafood Sector. Department of Environmental & Natural Resource Economics, University of Rhode Island.

Sproul & Michaud (2018b) Sproul, Thomas W. and Clayton P. Michaud. 2018. "The Economic Impact Study of Rhode Island's Marine Trades Sector." Department of Environmental & Natural Resource Economics, University of Rhode Island.

Tourism Economics (2017) The Economic Impact of Tourism in Rhode Island. <u>https://assets.simpleviewinc.com/simpleview/image/upload/v1/clients/rhodeisland/RI</u> <u>Visitor Economic Impact 2017 state results client 002 d9158ebb-7553-4670-</u> <u>bffe-1aa8ae2d7729.pdf</u>

https://www.crc.uri.edu/projects_page/capacity-building-for-the-marine-spatialplanning-network/

https://web.uri.edu/offshore-renewable-energy/

https://web.uri.edu/offshore-renewable-energy/planning-and-policy/

HOW TO OBTAIN EU PUBLICATIONS

Free publications:

- one copy: via EU Bookshop (http://bookshop.europa.eu);
- more than one copy or posters/maps: from the European Union's representations (http://ec.europa.eu/represent_en.htm); from the delegations in non-EU countries (http://eeas.europa.eu/delegations/index_en.htm); by contacting the Europe Direct service (http://europa.eu/europedirect/index_en.htm) or calling 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11 (freephone number from anywhere in the EU) (*).

(*) The information given is free, as are most calls (though some operators, phone boxes or hotels may charge you).

Priced publications:

• via EU Bookshop (http://bookshop.europa.eu).

Priced subscriptions:

• via one of the sales agents of the Publications Office of the European Union (http://publications.europa.eu/others/agents/index_en.htm).



ISBN: 978-92-9202-869-5 doi: 10.2826/892087